# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

# No. DA 23-0409

# STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

KATHERINE ANNE PROCTOR,

Defendant and Appellant.

# **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District Court, Lewis and Clark County, the Honorable Kathy Seeley, Presiding

## **APPEARANCES:**

TAMMY HINDERMAN Division Administrator ALEXANDER H. PYLE Assistant Appellate Defender Office of State Public Defender Appellate Defender Division P.O. Box 200147 Helena, MT 59620-0147 alexpyle@mt.gov (406) 444-9505

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. To be admissible under Mont. R. Evid. 702, proffered scientific expert testimony must be grounded in reliable science. Shaken baby syndrome (SBS) is not grounded in reliable science. Did the trial court err by admitting SBS testimony?

2. A warrant must particularly state what there is probable cause to search and seize, and a general warrant is unconstitutional. The State obtained a warrant employing terms broadly encompassing essentially all the data on Appellant's smartphone. Did the trial court err by not suppressing prejudicial evidence obtained under a general warrant?

3. The State argued Appellant was guilty because she sought and acquired legal counsel, because the prosecutor's character was better than Appellant's character, and because Appellant putting on evidence contradicting the State's case was a "circus" and "buy[ing] the truth." Did the State compromise the trial's fairness?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of a wrongful conviction grounded in unreliable science and prosecutorial overzealousness and overreach.

When Katherine and Tim Proctor took their four-month-old, PP, to the ER, imaging showed acute brain damage consistent with strokes and reduced blood or oxygen flow. (Trial 470, 610-11, 618.) PP was transferred to a second hospital where doctors quickly settled on a shaken baby syndrome (SBS) diagnosis.<sup>1</sup> (Trial 766-67.) Though the State conceded its case was "entirely circumstantial" (11/2 Tr. at 40), the State charged Katherine with assault on a minor resulting in serious bodily injury or accountability for the same. (Doc. 154.)

Katherine moved to exclude the State's proffered SBS testimony as inadmissible under Rule 702 because the SBS hypothesis is scientifically unverified and unreliable. (Doc. 15.) The District Court denied Katherine's motion. (9/20 Tr. at 145-46 (App. A).) Katherine also moved to suppress smartphone date evidence obtained through a data warrant that was general, overbroad, and unparticular to probable cause. (Docs. 7, 21, 66.) The warrant authorized the State to "extract[]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The doctors primarily used the terms abusive head trauma and nonaccidental trauma. (Trial 766-67, 932.) These terms encompass suspected injuries from both the head impacting something else and the head shaking without impact. (9/20 Tr. at 85.) Because no evidence suggested PP's head impacted something else (Trial 403, 1477), this brief uses the term shaken baby syndrome (SBS) as it is more specific to the doctors' theory of injury.

and download . . . all data . . . related to [Aggravated Assault, § 45-5-202]"—a phrase that the warrant defined as "including, but not limited to" a list of essentially all possible smartphone data (*e.g.*, "[m]etadata," "credit card accounts," "IP addresses," etc.) with the only exception being counsel and clergy communications. (8/26 Hr. Ex. 27 (App. B).) The District Court denied the motion to suppress and asserted there was probable cause to search and seize all of that smartphone data. (Doc. 215 (App. C) at 22.) At trial, the State introduced and argued evidence obtained through the warrant. (Trial 314-17, 1519-29, 2105-08, 2170-71; Exs. 42-61, 120-21 (admitted, Trial 305, 1365, 1519-27).)

Doctors who reviewed PP's file opined that she was misdiagnosed by doctors who failed to conduct tests necessary to rule out or confirm other possible diagnoses. (Trial 1608-09, 1758, 1871, 1875, 1931-32.) The State presented testimony that this defense "would set a precedent that such a severe and obvious case . . . can be overturned in court" and that it "stood out" that Katherine sought legal counsel while she was being investigated. (Trial 499, 1528.)

In closing arguments, the prosecutor argued Katherine's solicitation and acquisition of legal counsel was evidence of bad

character and guilt. (*See* Trial 2171 ("[Y]ou know what the defendant did. She looked for a defense attorney.... And what does she use those resources for? She uses them for herself to get a defense attorney.") (App. D).) The prosecutor compared Katherine's allegedly tainted character to the prosecutor's own, assertedly good character. (Trial 2170-71 ("That's my character. That's what the state is bringing to this.... And you know what the defendant's character is?").) The prosecutor told the jury the defense was a "circus," a "sham," and an attempt to "buy the truth." (Trial 2122, 2168, 2172.) The jury returned a guilty verdict. (Doc. 280.)

Katherine moved for a new trial based in part on the prosecutor's legal counsel-based attacks. (Doc. 288.) The court denied the motion. (Doc. 309 (App. E).) The court sentenced Katherine to twenty years in prison. (Doc. 319 (App. F).)

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

## I. Katherine is a loving and attentive mother.

All her life, Katherine has been known to be nonviolent and even keeled. (Trial 1687, 1820.) She grew up on a ranch where she took care of animals and younger brothers. (Trial 1682, 1818.) She became an

attorney and joined the Attorney General's Medicaid Fraud Control Unit. (Trial 1800-01.)

Katherine was in her mid-30s when, in 2019, she met Tim, a highway patrolman. (Trial 996, 1004, 1052.) They both dreamed of having children and living on acreage. (Trial 1057.) They got married in May 2020 and began trying to get pregnant. (Trial 1139-40.) Because they were on the older side for pregnancy—and because Tim has an initially-misdiagnosed neuropathic condition that they were concerned about passing on—they scheduled a conception consultation. (Trial 1004-05, 1040, 1051.) At the consultation, they were delighted to learn that Katherine was already pregnant. (Trial 1041, 1058.)

In spring 2021, Katherine and Tim bought a house on acreage near Choteau and contracted to sell their Helena house. (Trial 1129-30.) Katherine yet lacked approval to work remotely, so she and Tim temporarily leased an apartment in Helena. (Trial 1131-34.) Tim spent more time at the Choteau property because his work moved up to Great Falls. (Trial 1000-01.)

PP was born in May 2021. (Trial 1001.) She was a sound sleeper and joyful and relatively easy baby. (Trial 1135, 1143.) Grandparents

 $\mathbf{5}$ 

scheduled long stays in Helena to lend a hand. (Trial 1146, 1672, 1675, 1784, 2009.) Katherine and Tim were prompt with scheduled checkups. (*See* Trial 552, 557.) For peace of mind at night, they got an Owlet sock baby monitor to track PP's heart rate and oxygen level and alert if those left the device's preset range. (Trial 1012-13, 1041, 1128.)

Like Tim, PP had fair and sensitive skin that marked easily. (Trial 2001-02, 2014-15.) PP liked to root her face into things. (Trial 897, 1158, 2015-18.) She was often on a blanket, in a detachable car seat, or in a sleep sack with Velcro restraints. (Trial 1027, 1142.) She was observed with face irritation immediately after tummy time. (Trial 2015-17.) PP nicked herself with her nails, so Katherine and Tim got her protective mittens. (Trial 1154-55.)

In early July, Tim slipped while holding PP in the car seat. (Trial 1011.) Concerned, they took PP to the ER but learned PP was fine. (Trial 1151.) They were reassured that a facial discoloration on PP was nothing to worry about because babies get bumps and bruises. (Trial 1153.) At PP's two-month checkup several weeks later, the pediatrician found PP in good health and offered reassurance that redness in PP's eye was not concerning. (Trial 554-55.)

In August, PP began attending 3Rs Daycare. (Trial 809.) 3Rs noted a few times PP's face had small discolorations or rug burns. (Trial 829.) 3Rs is a mandatory reporter, so it must report suspected child abuse to law enforcement. (Trial 828.) 3Rs did not suspect abuse and did not report. (Trial 829.) PP never acted as if she had internal injuries. (Trial 869, 1824.)

People observed Katherine's happiness as a mother and her love, gentleness, and attentiveness toward PP. (Trial 1135, 1145-46, 1792, 2010.) When Katherine returned to work and PP started daycare, Katherine considered counseling because she was sad to be apart from PP. (Trial 1187.) "With every fabric of [Katherine's] being," Katherine loved, and continues to love, PP. (Sent. 99.)

# II. PP was very sick.

In early September 2021, Katherine, Tim, and PP attended Katherine's brother's wedding with hundreds of attendees. (Trial 1821.) Attendees held and interacted with PP, who had marks on the forehead and cheek. (Trial 1821-23.) After the wedding, several attendees came down with Covid. (Trial 1825.)

The third week of September, PP had a fever, a dark colored diaper, and was not feeding normally. (Trial 1165, 1167, 1173.)

On September 23, Tim heard PP cry and discovered their puppy and older dog had gotten in while PP was on the floor. (Trial 1169-70.) Tim didn't see any immediate injuries. (Trial 1170.)

Katherine's dad came to town from September 23 to September 26 to help with moving out of the Helena house. (Trial 1675.) Katherine's dad had recently seen other grandkids sick with Covid, and he felt sick himself, so he tried to keep distance from PP. (Trial 1678, 1692-93.) As beds got packed up, Katherine slept at night in the nursery with PP and did not use the Owlet monitor those nights. (Trial 1678; Trial Ex. 24-26 (admitted, Trial 304).)

Around September 24, discolorations appeared below one of PP's eyes and on the forehead. (Trial 1686-87.) Katherine thought they looked like had PP nicked herself with fingernails. (Trial 1686-87.) Katherine and Tim thought maybe PP had hit herself with a toy. (Trial 1018, 1197.) Tim had observed PP holding toys around that time. (Trial 1018-19.) 3Rs employees noticed the discoloration on September 27 and 28, and Katherine and Tim said they thought PP probably bonked herself. (Trial 821.)

On September 28, PP seemed off to a 3Rs employee. (Trial 863.) Tim picked up PP from daycare. (Trial 1026.) Usually, PP would fuss when Tim put her into the car. (Trial 1026.) Tim noticed PP did not fuss when he put her in the car that evening. (Trial 1026.)

Back at the house, Katherine and Tim were handling final moving-out tasks, and they planned to sleep that night at their apartment. (Trial 1027-30.) Tim reported PP drank a full bottle around 6:00 pm. (Trial 1027-28.) PP was not seeming to open her eyes as wide as normal. (Trial 756.)

Around 8, Tim reported PP was awake on the floor, and Tim's supervisor stopped by and heard music and normal-sounding baby crying inside. (Trial 1483.) Tim and the supervisor went out to the driveway to exchange some items and chat. (Trial 1029-30.) The conversation was sometime between five and twenty-five minutes. (Trial 1029-30, 1483, 1488.)

At some point, the supervisor recalled seeing Katherine "pull into" the driveway. (Trial 1488.) The supervisor and Katherine exchanged a

quick pleasantry as Katherine went into the house. (Trial 1485-86.) Tim and the supervisor were wrapping up their conversation and Tim went into the house right behind Katherine. (Trial 1487.) Tim testified PP was asleep in the detached car seat on the floor when he went into the house. (Trial 1030.)

Tim eventually took PP to the apartment and gave PP an evening bottle. (Trial 1030-31.) Tim reported PP drank only part of the bottle and didn't wake up for the feeding. (Trial 1031.) Katherine arrived later, and they put the Owlet sock monitor on PP around 11 p.m. (Trial 1033, 52.) The Owlet monitor considers 60 to 220 heartbeats per minute to be normal, and the monitor did not alert that night. (*See* Trial 1041-42, 1314, 1555-56.) But when Katherine and Tim got up in the morning, PP was not seeming to wake up. (Trial 1042.)

Katherine called an on-call pediatrician and was told that if PP had a fever, they could wait for medical care until PP had her fourmonth wellness check scheduled for later that day, but if PP did not have a fever, they should go to the ER. (Trial 1043-44.)

Katherine and Tim brought PP to the ER. (Trial 1044.) At the ER, Katherine and Tim explained that, upon looking at the Owlet

monitor's readings, they saw PP's heart rate had dropped to around 70 beats per minute during the night, and that they observed PP twitching on the way to the ER. (Trial 581-82, 703.)

The doctor's examination at St Peter's Hospital revealed PP's skull was tense where it should have been soft while her neck and other body parts did not show signs of injury. (Trial 597-98, 613-14.) PP was sporadically seizing. (Trial 600.) Physicians worked to control the seizures while they conducted tests and scans. (Trial 600- 09.)

A CT scan of PP's brain showed she had a large hypoxic ischemic injury, meaning brain damage from lack of oxygen or blood flow. (Trial 601, 610.) There are many possible causes for such injury, ranging from thrombosis, to infection, to metabolic issues, to seizures. (Trial 619-20.) Whatever the cause, PP was very sick. (Trial 611.) Physicians at St. Pete's got PP in stable but still critical condition and scheduled a transfer to Logan Hospital in Kalispell because that hospital has a pediatric neurosurgeon. (Trial 602-03.) After a few tries, doctors got PP intubated for travel to Kalispell. (Trial 604-07.)

# III. Some doctors decided PP was shaken without fully exploring other diagnoses.

In the mid-20<sup>th</sup> Century, Dr. Norman Guthkelch proposed a hypothesis called shaken baby syndrome. (Trial 1395-96.) The theory is that manually shaking an infant might generate equivalent force to car crashes causing the "triad" of symptoms of brain bleeding, bleeding in the eye, and neurological impairment. (9/20 Tr. at 82; Doc. 15, Ex. K.) Decades later, Dr. Guthkelch cautioned that his hypothesis still was not scientifically validated. (Trial 457, 1395-96.)<sup>2</sup> While the hypothesis is rooted in biomechanics (the study of external forces on the body), repeated biomechanical testing has shown manual shaking alone cannot generate the force required to cause the triad of symptoms. (See Trial 457, 1463.) In 2009, the American Academy of Pediatrics acknowledged that there are other causes for SBS's symptoms, so—even assuming SBS exists-validly diagnosing SBS requires ruling out other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See A.N. Guthkelch, Problems of Infant Retino-Dural, Hemorrhage with Minimal External Injury, 12 House. J. Health L & Pol'y 201, 207 (2012) ("SBS and AHT are hypotheses that have been advanced to explain findings that are not yet fully understood. There is nothing wrong in advancing such hypotheses; this is how medicine and science work. It is wrong, however, to fail to advise parents and courts when these are simply hypotheses, not proven medical or scientific facts, or to attack those who point out problems with these hypotheses or who advance alternatives.") (emphasis original).)

possible diagnoses. (9/20 Tr. at 84; Trial 1852-53.) Misdiagnose of serious medical problems in any situation is not uncommon and is a recognized problem in medicine. (Trial 1757.)

Doctors treating PP at St. Peter's Hospital did not list SBS among the possible diagnoses. (Trial 471-72.) But Logan Hospital doctors diagnosed SBS quickly after PP's arrival there. (Trial 766-67.)

Dr. Timothy Stidham coordinated PP's care at Logan. (Trial 669.) When Stidham received chest x-ray results suggesting PP had rib fractures, he decided PP had been abused and shaken because such fractures may correlate with where a person would squeeze when shaking an infant. (Trial 709, 766-67, 1463.) Stidham saw confirmation in other findings. (Trial 709.) An ophthalmology consultation found extensive hemorrhages in both of PP's eyes. (Trial 1078-80.) A brain MRI confirmed a large hypoxic ischemic injury along with a small subdural hemorrhage and a cleft<sup>3</sup> in the cerebellar. (Trial 628-37.) A bone scan was interpreted as showing several fractures. (Trial 417-31.)

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  The SBS doctors imputed violence to the cleft and described it as a "laceration." (Trial 1709-10.)

Even though Stidham later admitted there were other possible explanations, Stidham didn't order tests or receive feedback challenging his quick SBS/AHT diagnosis. (*See* Trial 766-67, 773-74.)

Dr. Julie Mack, a pediatric radiologist who teaches at Penn State University, and Dr. Joseph Scheller, a pediatric neurologist with expertise in brain and spine imaging, reviewed PP's brain imaging before this trial. (Trial 1695-99, 1926-29.) They observed "definitive" or "very suspicious" evidence of thrombosis—blood clotting that everyone agrees could cause the sort of hypoxic ischemic injury observed in PP. (Trial 1727-28, 1732, 1942-52.) The way to see how extensive thrombosis is, or to rule it out, is through a venogram (an MRV or CTV), which gives contrast to the brain's veins. (Trial 500, 1732, 1947-48.) Stidham did not order a venogram for PP. (Trial 767.) Having not done that, Stidham admitted he and his team "certainly could not rule out [thrombosis]." (Trial 773-74; accord Trial 653, 1948.)

Stidham was unaware of PP's Covid exposure earlier in September. (Trial 750.) A nose swab at the hospital was positive for the common cold but negative for Covid. (Trial 619.) Stidham did not order a second Covid swab test to rule out the risk of a false negative,

nor did Stidham order a blood test to see if PP had Covid-antibodies evincing an earlier infection. (Trial 750-51.) Emerging literature links the aftermath of Covid infections to thrombosis. (Trial 1452.)

Dr. Christopher Sullivan, the Chief Pediatric Orthopedic Surgeon at the University of Chicago, reviewed imaging of PP's body before this trial. (Trial 1574-79.) He saw evidence of vitamin D deficiency and Rickets (a childhood disease of soft bones). (Trial 1581-82, 1606, 1609.) Earlier doctors misdiagnosed several bones with fractures that were in a state of vitamin D deficiency without fracture. (Trial 1589-95, 1609.) Vitamin D deficiency and Rickets nonetheless make bones susceptible to fractures even in normal conditions, and PP had several fractures consistent with that—specifically, one older rib fracture, two newer rib fractures, and newer fractures in the right foot and thumb. (Trial 1602-04, 1612-14.) Given the observed evidence of vitamin D deficiency, PP's several fractures, and her elevated level of alkaline phosphatase observed in labs, it would have been "common practice" and should have been "obvious" for Stidham to have tested PP's vitamin D levels. (Trial 1584-85.) But Stidham did not order vitamin D labs. (Trial 752.) Other labs that Stidham did order do not rule out vitamin D deficiency.

(Trial 1636-37.) And even as Stidham didn't order vitamin D labs, he gave PP vitamin D supplements in the hospital. (Trial 1655-56.)<sup>4</sup>

Peers have voted Dr. Michael Laposata—a clinical pathologist<sup>5</sup> and Chairman of the Pathology Department at the University of Texas in Galveston—as America's most influential pathologist. (Trial 1844-48.) Laposata reviewed PP's file and testified about several known coagulation disorders that could have caused PP's brain injuries and were consistent with discolorations around her head. (Trial 1854-57.) Testing was necessary to rule out such disorders. (Trial 1857.) But Stidham didn't order the tests. (Trial 1857.) Stidham ordered only one coagulation test, and even though that test came back with a high result, he didn't further explore the issue. (Trial 1858.) Stidham's failure to order appropriate tests meant there was "no way" to rule out a coagulation disorder. (Trial 1857.)

Finally, the level of external force required to produce PP's brain injuries would be expected to break her neck. (Trial 932, 1610-11.) PP

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Katherine tested as vitamin D deficient in October 2021. (Trial 1583.) If Katherine's levels were similar while pregnant, it would indicate PP was severely vitamin D deficient at birth. (Trial 1584-87.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A medical professional specialized in diagnosing diseases by analyzing bodily fluids. (Trial 1847.)

had no neck fractures, even in her likely state of vitamin D deficiency. (Trial 1610.) The SBS doctors suggested fluid near where PP's neck connected to her skull was indicative of ligamentous disruption. (Trial 407-08.) But MRIs can show ligamentous disruption, and PP's imaging did not show that. (Trial 1747-48.) Soft tissue elsewhere in PP's body similarly exhibited excess fluid, and the strokes PP indisputably suffered can cause soft tissue to retain excess fluid. (Trial 1746-47.) The site of the fluid in the neck was also near where fluid draining from the brain might pool if impeded by a blood clot. (Trial 1749-50.)

#### IV. Investigation and warrant

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