IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 23-0409

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

KATHERINE ANNE PROCTOR,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District Court,
Lewis and Clark County, The Honorable Kathy Seeley, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
CORI LOSING
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
cori.losing@mt.gov

KEVIN DOWNS
Lewis and Clark County Attorney
MARY BARRY
Deputy County Attorneys
228 Broadway-Courthouse
Helena, MT 59601

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
AND APPELLEE

TAMMY HINDERMAN
Division Administrator

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

had used her phone to call a pediatrician the morning that P.P. was life-flighted to Logan in critical condition. (8/26/22-Ex. 28, Application 2-5.)

The application provided that P.P. was wearing an Owlet monitor the night before she was admitted to the hospital, and that Parents had known P.P.'s heart rate was abnormally low because the Owlet sent data to Parents' phones. The application further noted that the daycare had reviewed their logs, and there were four occasions, beginning in August, when staff had noted that P.P. arrived with bruises on her face. The application stated that P.P. had a black eye when she was admitted to St. Pete's. (8/26/22-Ex. 28, Application 2-5.)

The application also provided that Parents were moving into two separate residences, and that Tim was working in Great Falls. Tim informed Dr. Coil that he had been out of town the week leading up to P.P.'s injuries. And Parents were reportedly on their phones after hearing P.P.'s diagnosis. Finally, the application noted that based on Van Dyke's training and experience, which includes 5 years as a child abuse detective, criminals often use various message capabilities on their phones to facilitate their crimes. (8/26/22-Ex. 28, Application 2-6.)

Based on the information in the application, a reasonable probability existed that evidence concerning the offense of Aggravated Assault, P.P.'s health, and her injuries over the course of her few months of life, was on Proctor's phone.

Proctor's and the ACLU's reliance on *Seader* is misplaced. In *Seader*, ¶ 7, law enforcement searched Seader's van pursuant to a warrant that "authorized the seizure of proceeds of drug sales whether in monies, precious metals, property or anything else of value furnished or intended to be furnished in the exchange for the evidence or contraband relating to the use, sale or manufacture of dangerous drugs." During their search, law enforcement seized a stolen ATV, resulting in Seader being charged with felony theft. *Seader*, ¶ 8. This Court concluded that the "catchall phrase" of "anything else of value" provided "the executing officers no guidance in distinguishing between items that could and could not be seized, as amply illustrated by their seizure of the ATV," rendering "the warrant facially overbroad." *Seader*, ¶¶ 14-16.

Proctor's and the ACLU's argument that the Warrant stating "including, but not limited to" before the list of search categories being the same as "anything else of value," disregards that the qualifying language didn't prevent law enforcement, here, from being able to discern what evidence was authorized to be seized. (*See* Br. 34, 39; ACLU Br. 13.) Here, law enforcement didn't seize any data outside of the listed categories. By Proctor's trial, Van Dyke hadn't completed his review of the data seized from Proctor's phone, and only 20 photos, 2 text messages with photos, use of Pinterest, and a web search for defense counsel were used at trial. (Tr. 1517-28, 1540.) Thus, all of the evidence seized from Proctor's phone fell

within the categories of evidence sought, and was related to P.P.’s health and injuries and the offense of Aggravated Assault as stated in the warrant. Moreover, the evidence admitted was from June-October 2021.

Thus, in denying Proctor’s motion, the court correctly concluded “that the search warrant was not overbroad—there was probable cause that the categories of data to be searched contained evidence of the crime of aggravated assault. The phones to be searched were specifically identified. The evidence to be seized covered a limited timeframe” because it was limited to the crime of aggravated assault of P.P., who was born in May 2021.¹¹ (Doc. 215 at 22.)

C. Even if the court erred, it was harmless.

Even if this Court concludes that the district court erred in denying Proctor’s suppression motion, this Court will not reverse if the alleged error was harmless. *See Van Kirk*, ¶ 47. Here, any potentially tainted evidence was either cumulative or played a minor role in Proctor’s trial.

¹¹ Based on the State’s arguments below, Proctor, on appeal, contends that the doctrines of severability and inevitable discovery don’t apply. (Br. 44-46.) Because the State argues that the Warrant satisfied the specificity requirement, but even if it didn’t, the admission of the evidence seized from Proctor’s phone was harmless, the State doesn’t respond to Proctor’s arguments regarding those two doctrines.

1. Photographs

The admission of the photographs, and the State's references to the injuries depicted in the photographs during questioning of medical professionals in its opening statement and closing argument were harmless. First, the jury was instructed that opening statements and closing arguments were not evidence. (Doc. 283); *see State v. Smith*, 2021 MT 148, ¶ 49, 404 Mont. 245, 488 P.3d 531.

Second, the jury found beyond a reasonable doubt that the offense resulted in serious bodily injury to P.P., not that the offense resulted in bodily injury to P.P. The admitted photographs all supported bodily injury, depicting either abrasions or bruises on P.P.'s face over her first four months. Several witnesses also testified to seeing various bruises or abrasions on P.P.'s face during that time. There was also extensive testimony describing P.P.'s black eye.

In light of the significant testimony concerning P.P.'s serious bodily injuries—multiple fractures, various brain injuries, and bilateral retinal hemorrhages—the photographs depicting bruises, which witnesses described, didn't contribute to Proctor's conviction for assault on a minor, causing serious bodily injury.

2. Web history

The State's use of Proctor's web search for counsel was harmless because there was additional testimony that Proctor had secured defense counsel in

October 2021. Tim testified that he took screenshots of the Owlet data while P.P. was in the hospital, at the request of Proctor's attorney. (Tr. 1035) And Proctor's expert, Dr. Scheller, was consulted by Proctor's defense counsel and had reviewed P.P.'s medical records before she was discharged from Logan. (*Id.* 1986-89.) Even so, Proctor's search early on for defense counsel didn't contribute to her conviction, again, based on the overwhelming testimony that Proctor, the last caregiver to be with P.P. alone before P.P.'s health rapidly declined, caused P.P.'s severe injuries.

3. Text messages

Likewise, the admission of two of Proctor's text messages was harmless. Proctor sent text messages, with photos of P.P. intubated, when P.P. was being prepared for transport to Logan and during her life-flight. The first message informed Tim that P.P. was doing great, and the second message informed Tim that they were about an hour away from Logan and that P.P. was getting some sun. (Trial-Exs. 121A-121B.) These text messages, at best, go to Proctor's perplexing responses to the severity of P.P.'s condition. The State presented substantial other evidence about Proctor's odd behavior in relation to P.P.'s life-threatening injuries as circumstantial evidence that she committed the assault against P.P. The admission of the text messages didn't contribute to Proctor's conviction.

III. Proctor hasn't established that the prosecutor's challenged statements constitute plain error.

“Except as otherwise prohibited by applicable constitutional rights, statutory rules of procedure, and rules of evidence, criminal prosecutors have wide latitude to present and elicit relevant incriminating evidence and to challenge any evidence presented by the defense.” *State v. Miller*, 2022 MT 92, ¶ 22, 408 Mont. 316, 510 P.3d 17. For instance, a prosecutor “may not assert or comment on facts not in evidence.” *Miller*, ¶ 23. Nor can the prosecutor “express a direct personal opinion or belief that the accused is guilty” of the offense charged, or assert “that the court has previously made a determination indicative of the accused’s guilt.” *Miller*, ¶ 24. The prosecutor may, however, argue, based on the evidence, “that the accused is guilty, committed the crime, or that the state has met its burden of proof.” *Miller*, ¶ 27.

Only when a prosecutor’s comments prejudice a defendant’s right to fair trial is reversal appropriate. *Miller*, ¶ 36. This Court will not presume that prosecutorial misconduct violated a defendant’s constitutional right to a fair trial; the defendant must demonstrate that the misconduct resulted in an unfair trial under the totality of the circumstances, including consideration of the improper comment in the context of the entire subject closing arguments. *Id.* “[I]solated instances of improper prosecutorial comments during closing argument are generally insufficient to prejudice an accused’s right to a fair trial.” *Miller*, ¶ 37.

Notably, Proctor does not appeal the court's denial of her motion for new trial based on alleged prosecutorial misconduct. (*See* Doc. 309.) Nor did Proctor object below to any of the statements she challenges on appeal. Generally, this Court will not address on appeal a defendant's unobjected to claim of prosecutorial misconduct. *Miller*, ¶ 10.

However, this Court will sparingly apply plain error review in situations that implicate a defendant's fundamental constitutional rights when failing to review the alleged error may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the proceedings, or compromise the integrity of the judicial process. *Id.* Proctor has not established that plain error review of her claims is warranted.

Throughout trial, Proctor's asserted theory of the case was that P.P.'s medical team misdiagnosed her with NAT, the State blindly pursued charges against Proctor based on P.P.'s injuries, and that no one could be guilty of assaulting P.P. because no child abuse occurred. (*See* Tr. 1646, 2126, 2131-35, 2137-39, 2160.) Against that backdrop, Proctor singles out discrete statements in the State's closing arguments, out of context, as improper comments on her pre-investigation search for defense counsel, her improbable defense, her character, and the strength of the State's case.

A. The State’s reference to Proctor’s web search for counsel was not improper or prejudicial.

Proctor asserts it was prejudicial misconduct when the State solicited, without objection, that Proctor searched online for defense counsel shortly after P.P. was admitted to Logan, and then commented on it in its rebuttal closing. (Br. 53-59.) Importantly, Proctor’s web search for counsel occurred well before her right to counsel attached. *See State v. Schneider*, 2008 MT 408, ¶ 21, 347 Mont. 215, 197 P.3d 1020. Moreover, the State, by soliciting and using that evidence, did not impermissibly offer a personal opinion on Proctor’s guilt or undermine her presumption of innocence. *See Miller*, ¶¶ 24, 27.

On direct examination, Van Dyke, when asked what stood out to him during his review of Proctor’s web history, without objection, offered two things: Proctor used Pinterest and searched for defense counsel. (Tr. 1528.) The State did not ask Van Dyke to elaborate on why that particular search was notable, nor did it ask Van Dyke if that evidence was indicative of Proctor’s guilt. Indeed, when viewed in context of the other use of her phone—Pinterest, the day before—a reasonable inference is that Proctor’s behavior did not match the circumstances. At that time, it was unclear if P.P. would live and Proctor used her phone for research unrelated to P.P.’s wellbeing. This is further supported by Van Dyke’s testimony on redirect noting the absence of specific topics—P.P.’s various injuries—from Proctor’s web history. (Tr. 1569.) Because this relevant testimony was admitted without

objection, the State cannot be faulted for commenting on this evidence in closing arguments. *See Miller*, ¶ 23.

Moreover, the State appropriately commented on the online search for counsel, along with other admissible evidence, to highlight that Proctor's actions at the time of P.P.'s hospitalization were inconsistent with her defense that no child abuse occurred, arguing in relevant part:

And then she gets to the next hospital, and they start finding out more. And that hospital hasn't called CPS yet. And then they figure out this looks like abuse. And you know what Tim did when he was confronted with abuse? He vomited. He threw up, and he cried. And then he looked at her and said, did you do this. He went through a list who could have done this to my kid.

And you know what the defendant did? She looked for a defense attorney. That's what she did. No one had said she did this, and she's looking for a defense attorney while her daughter is dying. She's not looking for a potential other diagnosis. She's not looking up is my kid going to make it. What's hypoxic ischemic? What are these doctors telling me? I have no clue. And all you've heard about is what a good researcher she is, how smart she is, how resourceful she is. And what does she use those resources for? She uses them for herself to get a defense attorney.

And then she doesn't get a second opinion. She gets a defense attorney who contacts an expert and says get me a defense because that's what all of those experts do. They travel around the country.

(Tr. 2171-72.)

Considering these comments in their context, the State was not using evidence of Proctor's internet search as impermissible evidence of her guilt. Instead, the State was arguing that the totality of the evidence—including P.P.'s serious injuries,

Tim’s different reaction, Tim asking Proctor if she had harmed P.P., Proctor not obtaining a second opinion on P.P.’s diagnosis, and Proctor not even researching P.P.’s injuries but instead searching for a lawyer—does not support Proctor’s defense that no child abuse occurred. In doing so, the prosecutor did not tell the jury that she believed Proctor was guilty because she had searched for defense counsel.

Nor did the State provide a personal opinion of Proctor’s guilt; rather, the State included Proctor’s internet search as part of its analysis of the evidence. *See State v. Armstrong*, 189 Mont. 407, 616 P.2d 341 (1980) (prosecutor stating “[t]his man is guilty as sin” not misconduct because, in context, it was “based upon State’s analysis of the evidence,” not the prosecutor’s opinion); *State v. Lacey*, 2012 MT 52, ¶¶ 19, 25-26, 364 Mont. 291, 272 P.3d 1288 (prosecutor’s statement in closing argument that the jury should find Lacey guilty “because, by God, he is” was insufficient to invoke plain error review). The State also didn’t argue that the search for defense counsel resulted in the presumption of Proctor’s innocence no longer applying. *See generally State v. Lawrence*, 2016 MT 346, ¶ 16, 386 Mont. 86, 385 P.3d 968.

Proctor’s reliance on several out-of-state cases doesn’t support that the State committed misconduct. For instance, unlike the prosecutor in *State v. Epsey*, 336 P.3d 1178, 1180-82 (Wash. Ct. App. 2014), here, the State didn’t twice remind the jury that Epsey, while fleeing police, “consulted with two attorneys” and “had

lots of time to figure out what story he was going to tell the police” before his recorded interview. Nor did the State here, like the prosecutor in *State v. Angel T.*, 973 A.2d 1207, 1210-15 (Conn. 2009), improperly reference the “defendant’s silence in response to police questioning, on advice of counsel.”

Finally, the State’s mention of Proctor searching for defense counsel is distinguishable from *Commonwealth v. Lang*, 275 A.3d 1072, 1074 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2022). In *Lang*, the commonwealth, over Lang’s objection, introduced evidence at his bench trial of Lang’s internet searches “for top Pittsburgh criminal attorneys” the day after the release of an investigative report that named various priests accused of sexual misconduct. *Lang*, 275 A.3d at 1076. The judge presiding over the trial “stated the internet search evidence was ‘dispositive’ in determining [Lang’s] guilt.” *Id.* 1078. The appellate court concluded “the admission of evidence of Appellee’s internet searches for criminal defense attorneys, before he was charged or implicated in any offenses, violated his constitutional right to due process and a fair trial.” *Id.* 1084.

Unlike in *Lang*, Proctor didn’t object to testimony of her internet search for defense counsel. Also, unlike in *Lang*, the record doesn’t suggest that the jury found the State’s reference to Proctor searching for defense counsel dispositive of her guilt. Proctor has not established that the challenged statements constitute prejudicial misconduct warranting plain error review.

B. The State's comments regarding Proctor's character, her defense, and the strength of the State's case were neither improper nor prejudicial.

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